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CLAAS Group Overview

Financial indicators (IFRS)

in € million 2018 2017 Change in %
Financial performance

Net sales 3,889.2 3,761.0 3.4
Research and development costs'’ 233.4 217.6 7.3
EBITDA 372.7 335.7 1.0
EBIT 256.8 2156.2 19.3
Income before taxes 225.7 184.5 22.3
Net income 152.0 116.4 31.7
Free cash flow -83.9 209.6 -140.0
Financial position

Equity 1,395.5 1,293.8 7.9
Capital expenditure? 160.3 130.7 22.6
Total assets 3,384.7 3,232.8 4.7
Employees

Number of employees as of the balance sheet date® 11,132 10,961 1.6
Personnel expenses 693.0 673.5 2.9

! Before capitalized and amortized development costs.

? Including development costs recognized as an asset, excluding goodwill.

% Including apprentices.
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“Because the demand for food
Is huge, farmers around the
world are becoming increasingly
professional. Helping them do
so Is our strength.”

Hermann Lohbeck



The 2018 Annual Report

IS now also available online
at www.claas-group.com/
investor/annual-report
along with an interactive
KPI calculator.
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Foreword by the Executive Board

Hermann Lohbeck
Speaker of the CLAAS
Group Executive Board and
responsible for the Forage
Harvesting Division

Dear Business Partners,

After several years of significant declines, the global agricultural equipment market returned to stability and
achieved the highest volume since 2013, according to estimates by industry associations. Key European sales
markets such as Germany, France, and Poland saw solid income and investment development. Growth in
Eastern Europe, which had been strong in the recent past, lost momentum slightly over the course of the fiscal
year. While American markets posted positive performance overall, development in Asia varied.

CLAAS was able to take advantage of these overwhelmingly positive indicators and boost its sales to a new
record level of €3.9 billion.

Our sales improved palpably in Germany, France, and the United Kingdom. In Eastern Europe, we recorded
a slight decline in sales, albeit at a high level. Outside Europe, the situation was mixed. While North American
sales increased in local currency, China saw a decline due to market uncertainty.

The Company’s profitability developed very favorably. Our earnings before taxes and return on sales continued
to improve, allowing us to make substantial investments in people, machines, and ideas. At €233 million,
spending on research and development reached a new high, with capital expenditure for property, plant, and
equipment rising appreciably to €113 million.
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Foreword by the Executive Board

In Le Mans, we are currently modernizing the main assembly line for our tractors, where we plan to grow. In
Hamm, a new high-bay warehouse is under construction, which will allow us to double the number of pallet
bays to 58,000. As this would suggest, we are further expanding our successful spare parts business. We are
also continuing to invest in our main production facility in Harsewinkel and recently had the pleasure of com-
pleting our new test center for machine components.

The high level of spending on research and development is making a significant contribution to the success
of the Company, as indicated once again by the impressive number of product innovations. Thanks to the
JAGUAR 960 TERRA TRAC, we have become the first manufacturer to launch a forage harvester with an inte-
grated track solution. The new concept provides best-in-class soil conservation under all conditions. The
JAGUAR is rounded out by the new ORBIS 600 SD and ORBIS 750 corn headers, which ensure optimum
crop flow.

With an expanded range of models, we launched the next generation of the TUCANO combine harvester. For
the first time, this series offers models that are capable of operating on slopes of up to 18%. The new operating
terminal enables the driver to intuitively operate all main functions — without prior training on the machine.

With the CONVIO and CONVIO FLEX, CLAAS launched all-new draper cutterbars for the LEXION combine
harvester. Their multicrop capabilities make it possible to use them worldwide for any threshed crops under
all harvesting conditions. Important innovations also came from the forage harvesting division, where we
launched the newly engineered ROLLANT 540 round baler and the DISCO MOVE, a front mower with out-
standing ground-contour following.

In light of the growing global population, the task for us is to make agricultural equipment even more efficient
and capable of conserving resources. The role that software, electronics, and digital solutions play in this
process will continue to increase significantly. Early this year, CLAAS opened the Greenhouse, a special
space for digitalization. Just a few months later, a well-known business magazine ranked our innovation lab
number 15 in Germany.

Structural change is leading to rising demand for professional agricultural equipment. For fiscal year 2019,
we expect stable development in global agricultural equipment markets. Global trade conflicts, which also
affect agricultural goods, pose a general risk. Given this market assessment, we expect a slight year-on-year
rise in sales in the current fiscal year.

For over 100 years, CLAAS — a family-owned company — has drawn its strength from a shared power of
innovation and a passion for agriculture. Our committed employees continued to make a decisive contribution
to this strength in 2018. In close cooperation with the Supervisory Board and the Shareholders’” Committee,
we developed positively in the past year and look confidently toward the future.

On behalf of the entire CLAAS Group Executive Board, | would like to convey my sincerest thanks for a
constructive partnership!

Yours sincerely,

(I

Hermann Lohbeck
Speaker of the CLAAS Group Executive Board
and responsible for the Forage Harvesting Division



Report of the Supervisory Board of
CLAAS Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien mbH

Cathrina Claas-Miihlhauser
and Helmut Claas

Dear Business Partners,

The Supervisory Board of CLAAS KGaA mbH monitored and analyzed the Group’s business situation and risk
position at its regular meetings during fiscal year 2018. The Supervisory Board’s assessments were based

on reports by the Executive Board on the Group’s strategic orientation, its financial position and financial per-
formance, deviations from the plans made throughout the course of business, and operating decisions. The
reports were received in two sessions and used in the decisions made by the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board’s deliberations focused on the sales and earnings outlook, the development of business
in comparison to budgets, the acceptance of the auditor’s report, the auditing of the annual financial statements
of CLAAS KGaA mbH and the CLAAS Group, as well as the plans for the year 2019 and for the medium term.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board discussed the impact of the period of drought in summer 2018, the
impact of African swine fever, potential Brexit scenarios, and supply bottlenecks at OEM partners. The Super-
visory Board also studied a report regarding risk management at the CLAAS Group.
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Report of the Supervisory Board of CLAAS Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien mbH

The shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board are: Cathrina Claas-Muhlh&user (Chairwoman),
Helmut Claas, Dr. Patrick Claas, Reinhold Claas, Christian Boehringer, and Gerd Peskes. The employee repre-
sentatives on the Supervisory Board are: Heinrich Strotjohann, Michael Kohler, Jirgen Schmidt (Deputy Chair-
man), Carmelo Zanghi, Rainer Straube, and Kai Gieselmann (until 08/2018).

The financial statements of CLAAS KGaA mbH and the consolidated financial statements of the CLAAS Group
as of September 30, 2018, as well as the management reports for CLAAS KGaA mbH and the CLAAS Group,
were audited by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hanover, Germany, the auditors elected
at the annual general meeting on January 11, 2018, and appointed by the Supervisory Board. The statements
and reports received an unqualified audit opinion on November 26, 2018.

The financial statements of CLAAS KGaA mbH, the consolidated financial statements and management reports,
as well as the proposal for the appropriation of profit were presented to the Supervisory Board upon their
completion. These documents, as well as the auditor’s reports, were available to the members of the Super-
visory Board and were discussed in detail at the Supervisory Board meeting on December 6, 2018, in the
presence of the auditor.

The Supervisory Board then passed the following resolution:

Having examined the financial statements of CLAAS KGaA mbH, the consolidated financial statements and
management reports, as well as the proposal for the appropriation of profit, the Supervisory Board confirmed
the results of the audit. No objections were raised. The Supervisory Board therefore approves the consoli-
dated financial statements. It recommends to the shareholders that the annual financial statements of CLAAS
KGaA mbH for fiscal year 2017 /2018 be adopted and agrees with the proposal for the appropriation of profits
made by the Executive Board of the personally liable partner.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board and all employees for their high level of personal
commitment during fiscal year 2018.

The task at hand for the new fiscal year will be to further expand the market position through an attractive

product range and services that benefit customers.

Harsewinkel, December 6, 2018

C Caae- 5 n s tyw e "&aM

The Supervisory Board Dipl.-Ing. Dr. h.c.
Cathrina Claas-MUhlh&user Helmut Claas
(Chairwoman) (Member of the Supervisory Board)
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Executive Board of the CLAAS Group
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Structure of CLAAS KGaA mbH

Personally Liable KGaA Shareholders
Partner Family Helmut Claas
Helmut Claas GmbH Family Gunther Claas

Family Reinhold Claas

Shareholders’ Committee
Helmut Claas, Chairman

Cathrina Claas-MUhlhauser, Deputy Chairwoman
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Structure of CLAAS KGaA mbH

Supervisory Board

Cathrina Claas-Muhlhduser, Chairwoman
Jurgen Schmidt, Deputy Chairman*
Christian Ernst Boehringer

Helmut Claas

Dr. Patrick Claas

Reinhold Claas

Kai Gieselmann* (until August 2018)
Michael Kdhler*

Gerd Peskes

Dr. Alexander Pfohl* (from November 2018)
Rainer Straube*

Heinrich Strotjohann*

Carmelo Zanghi*

* Employee representatives.

Group Executive Board**
Hermann Lohbeck
Thomas Bock

Dr. Jens Foerst

Hans Lampert

Bernd Ludewig
Jan-Hendrik Mohr

** Executive Board of Helmut Claas GmbH.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Authorized Company
Representatives

Stefan Belda
Gerd Hartwig (until March 2018)
Dr. Emmanuel Siregar (from April 2018)

13



16
17
18
20
22
23
25
25
27
30

Our Strategy

Industry Trends

Financial Performance
Cash Position

Financial Position
Research and Development
Purchasing

Employees

Risks and Opportunities
Outlook



Group Management Report



16

Group Management Report

Our Strategy

The agricultural equipment sector continues to be strongly
influenced by the development of the factors driving the agri-
cultural industry: global population growth coupled with rising
demand for higher-quality food and for raw materials in both
nutrition and energy generation. Taken together, these trends
call for an increase in agricultural production. Highly efficient
agricultural equipment can help to enhance productivity and
thereby generate higher yields from less arable land and water.
Additional drivers of our industry are globalization and digitali-
zation, which are driving new business models.

As a harvesting specialist, CLAAS has always understood
agricultural processes and knows what is needed out in the
field. CLAAS machinery, systems, and services help profes-
sional agricultural operations worldwide to manage the tasks
they face. This provides CLAAS with the blueprint for the fol-
lowing five strategic directions.

Outperform in the European home market

Europe remains the most important market for CLAAS. CLAAS
has expanded its technological position in this central region
and is a market leader in harvesting technology. The tractor
product group has also developed positively for CLAAS. As
high-tech machines for implements, large tractors from CLAAS
are increasingly forming the intelligent link that helps ensure
optimized process control in the field. With ever more exten-
sive services that are based on connected products, CLAAS is
enabling customers to leverage their potential for efficiency.
The establishment of various online portals under the umbrella
of the common platform CLAAS connect also provides cus-
tomers with advanced access to sales and services.

Generate international growth

Around the world, farmers are provided with machines that
have been tailored to their needs with the quality standards
of a premium manufacturer. In North America, for instance,
combines are produced that meet the specific requirements
of U.S. farmers. In Russia, CLAAS manufactures the TUCANO

combine, which has been recognized as a Russian product. In
China, a new series of machinery has been developed jointly
within the global CLAAS network.

Enhance differentiation power

As a premium manufacturer, CLAAS is investing extensively in
research and development. The product range, which has
been expanded significantly in recent years, focuses on the
needs of crop farming, dairy, and livestock operations, as well
as those of contractors. CLAAS products stand out thanks to
their power, quality, and efficiency. In addition to technology,
CLAAS is investing heavily in the expansion of innovative digital
solutions. Through its involvement in launching 365FarmNet, a
manufacturer-independent farm management information sys-
tem, CLAAS is also demonstrating that the future of the agri-
cultural industry — as part of “Farming 4.0” — lies in connected
approaches that transcend the boundaries of competition.

Drive top-performing efficiency

CLAAS is well aware of the markets’ volatility and has suc-
cessfully coped with it in the past. The target is to maintain a
high level of profitability even in a difficult environment, thereby
setting the stage for future growth. Improving manufacturing
and production costs, enhancing efficiency in research and
development, as well as optimizing administrative and selling
expenses remain ongoing management tasks.

Enlarge CLAAS capabilities

A highly dynamic environment, coupled with the growing digi-
talization of business and internationalization activities, is
resulting in a constant string of new challenges for specialists
and management executives. Their task is to provide custom-
ers with the best possible advice and support them while
advancing innovation and progress. With this aim in mind, the
Company offers a wide range of continuous employee training
measures in key areas of competence to make the implemen-
tation of strategic and operating measures and targets reality.
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Our Strategy
Industry Trends

Industry Trends

Economic frameworks

Despite some significant regional differences, the global econ-
omy has seen positive development and growth of 3.7% in the
2018 calendar year, according to International Monetary Fund
(IMF) estimates. The U.S. economy has registered high domes-
tic demand and low unemployment, resulting in expectations
of 2.9% growth for 2018 following 2.2% in the prior year (as of
October 2018). Moreover, the Chinese economy still appears
healthy overall, with slightly lower growth of 6.6% (prior year:
6.9%). For the European Union, the IMF expects the growth
rate to decline to 2.2% (prior year: 2.7%). In Eastern Europe,
the main focus is on Russia. Supported by rising oil prices, the
IMF forecasts a moderate increase of 1.7% in Russia, despite
the current sanctions, following 1.5% in the prior year.

In 2017, the global agricultural equipment industry (including
municipal, forestry, and garden equipment) achieved the high-
est market volume since 2013 — approximately €104 billion —
according to estimates from the Mechanical Engineering
Industry Association (VDMA). This year, the VDMA expects a
2% increase in sales in real terms.

In crop year 2017 /18, which, in contrast to the CLAAS fiscal
year, ended on June 30, global grain production (including rice)
fell by 1.7% year on year to 2,566 million tons, according to the
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) (as of October 2018).
This development was mainly due to lower global production
of corn (-4.1%), whereas wheat production reached a new
record of 759 million tons (+0.9%). As in the three years prior,
global wheat consumption lagged behind production. Conse-
quently, global wheat stocks are at a new record level. In the
past year, this situation led to a price level that was below the
five-year average range.

On average, agricultural incomes in the EU developed well over
the course of 2017, with dairy and meat production acting as
the main driving factors.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The price of milk initially fell from a high level at the start of the
fiscal year before stabilizing in early 2018. Throughout the
summer, it remained at a good level that was nevertheless
lower than the one seen in 2017.

Regional industry developments

In 2018, the market volume for professional agricultural equip-
ment in Europe is set to improve year on year, according to the
VDMA'’s forecast. The positive performance of milk prices in
2017 and the resulting improvement in liquidity has enabled
investments, with the key markets Germany, France, and
Poland seeing solid income and investment development.

The growth of agricultural equipment markets in Eastern
Europe has slowed down on a high absolute level. In Russia,
sound harvests led to a 17% increase in wheat production.
Ukraine saw market declines for tractors and combine harvest-
ers, some of them significant, despite good harvests. However,
the region is still characterized by a huge need to catch up with
regard to professional agricultural equipment.

The North American agricultural machinery market continues
to develop positively. After years of weakness, the markets for
combines and larger tractors saw recovery. The willingness to
invest was higher following the general increase in agricultural
incomes in 2017.

The markets in Latin America once again turned in a positive
performance. In Argentina, the difficult harvesting conditions
and the currency crisis had a negative impact on agriculture.

The Asian agricultural equipment market varied heavily at local
level. In India, favorable climatic conditions led to stable har-
vest yields for rice and higher agricultural equipment sales.
Despite good vyields, the agricultural equipment market in
China continued to decline in 2018 due to overcapacity and
uncertainty regarding the anticipated tightening of engine
emission standards. However, the trend toward the profes-
sionalization of agriculture is set to continue in China in the
long term.

17
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Financial Performance

Net sales by region 7211

The CLAAS Group generated net sales of €3,889.2 million in
fiscal year 2018. The increase of 3.4% compared to the prior
year exceeded our expectations. The moderate rise in sales
reflects the signs of stabilization on the global markets for
professional agricultural equipment following several years of
significant market declines. Sales developments on markets
relevant to CLAAS varied and partially offset each other.
Overall, the change in important exchange rates, such as U.S.
dollars or Russian rubles, had no significant impact on sales.
The share of sales generated outside Germany amounted to
78.5% (prior year: 79.1%).

Net sales in Germany totaled €834.6 million (prior year:
€785.0 million). The increase was mainly the result of success-
ful new machinery sales, particularly tractors, combine har-
vesters, and forage harvesting machinery. CLAAS managed
to defend its good market position for these product groups.
The used machinery, service, spare parts, and accessory
components business posted a slight increase at a high level.

After last year’s significant drop, business in France stabilized,
albeit at a comparatively low level. Sales in this market rose
to €677.1 million in the fiscal year following €657.2 million in
the prior year. Primarily, the high number of used machines in
dealers’ inventories negatively impacted new machinery sales.
Nevertheless, CLAAS maintained its market position with
regard to combine harvesters and tractors.

Sales generated in the Rest of Western Europe increased to
€746.5 million (prior year: €691.7 million). As in the prior year,
the United Kingdom, Italy, and Spain, as well as Denmark,
recorded the highest sales figures. In the United Kingdom in
particular, demand for CLAAS products was very positive in
comparison to the prior year.

1_Net Sales by Region
in € million/in % compared to prior year

689.6 834.6
(2.3%) (+6.3%) ® Germany
B France
M Rest of Western Europe
941.4 677.1 Central and Eastern Europe
0,
(+2.2%) (+3.0%) Other countries
746.5
(+7.9%)

At €941.4 million, net sales in Central and Eastern Europe were
up 2.2% from the prior-year level. Demand for professional
agricultural equipment — and, in particular, for CLAAS prod-
ucts such as combine harvesters, tractors, and forage har-
vesters — remains high. CLAAS again recorded double-digit
growth rates in new machine sales for combine harvesters.
CLAAS was able to further expand its market position with
regard to combine harvesters and tractors. The Russian
Federation, Poland, Turkmenistan, and Romania contributed
the highest sales volume within this region. In Central Asia,
the positive sales development was strongly influenced by
large-scale tender transactions.

Totaling €689.6 million, net sales generated outside Europe
were down slightly year on year (prior year: €705.6 million),
although contributions varied from country to country. Once
again, combine harvester sales increased in North America. In
Argentina, the willingness to invest in agricultural equipment
was significantly hampered by difficult economic conditions.
Therefore, sales were down substantially year on year. Sales in
North America were up on a U.S. dollar basis. In China, uncer-
tainty over subsidization policies and the exhaust emissions
regulations for agricultural machinery also hampered the will-
ingness of customers to invest. As in the prior year, the U.S,,
Canada, Argentina, and China contributed the highest sales
figures.
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Financial Performance

2_Income Statement (Summary)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in € million 2018 2017 Change
Net sales 3,889.2 3,761.0 128.2
Cost of sales -3,0431 -2,944.4 -98.7
Gross profit on sales 846.1 816.6 29.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses -411.0 -408.3 -2.7
Research and development expenses -225.7 -211.2 -14.5
Other operating income, net 44.3 15.2 29.1
Operating income 253.7 212.3 41.4
Income from investments, net 18.9 14.2 4.7
Financial result -46.9 -42.0 -4.9
Income before taxes 225.7 184.5 41.2
Netincome 152.0 115.4 36.6
Income 22 The increase in other operating income was largely due to

The increase in the cost of sales was mainly due to higher net
sales. At 21.8%, the gross profit margin was on par with the
prior year. Gross profit reflects various, partially opposing
effects related to price realization, the product and country
mix, capacity utilization at production sites, and developments
in the after-sales business. Overall, it was possible to compen-
sate for higher commodity prices and personnel expenses.

In absolute terms, general selling and administrative expenses
were on par with the prior year. Costs therefore developed
again more slowly compared to sales. This very favorable
development of costs was —among other factors — the result of
various measures aimed at increasing efficiency and reducing
costs.

Research and development expenses reached a new high
level in the history of CLAAS. They included the development
and renewal of harvesting machinery and tractors, investments
in electronics architecture for machine control and connec-
tivity, and expenses for the digitalization of agricultural pro-
cesses. Please refer to the section on “Research and Develop-
ment” for more information.

lower expenses from the measurement of receivables and
provisions no longer needed in their entirety.

Income from investments, net, mainly includes the respective
share of income from the financing and leasing business of the
CLAAS Financial Services companies.

The change in the financial result is mainly due to the develop-
ment of foreign exchange gains and losses. The significant
devaluation of the Argentine peso and the weakening of the
Russian ruble resulted in negative valuation effects.

Income before taxes improved again significantly year on year,
thereby exceeding our expectations at the start of the fiscal
year. The favorable development was due not least to the
improved profitability of a number of foreign subsidiaries,
which is reflected in the change in the Group tax rate. The
return on sales amounted to 5.8% (prior year: 4.9%).
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Cash Position

Liquid assets 23

As of the reporting date, the CLAAS Group’s liquidity amounted
to €803.4 million (prior year: €937.6 million). The development
of liquid assets primarily reflects the change in working capital.
Liquid assets are mainly held as fixed-term deposits, funds,
and short-term securities.

3_Net Liquidity

in € million Sept. 30, 2018 | Sept. 30, 2017 Change
Cash and cash equivalents 609.7 226.6 38341
Securities 193.7 711.0 -517.3
Liquid assets 803.4 937.6 -134.2
Financial liabilities* 605.5 617.3 -11.8
Net liquidity 197.9 320.3 -122.4

* Excluding derivative financial instruments.

Financial liabilities and credit facilities
The U.S. private placement and the Schuldscheindarlehen
(German Private Placement) are the largest individual financial
liabilities items. The decline in financial liabilities was mainly
driven by short-term liabilities to banks.

On the balance sheet date, the CLAAS Group had access
to credit facilities from banks as well as a flexible syndicated
loan totaling €704.6 million for general financing purposes,
€653.5 million of which was unutilized.

4_Balance Sheet Structure

For more information on the financial liabilities, please see
Note 24 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Financial management duties and targets are presented in
Note 34 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Off-balance-sheet measures

CLAAS uses the asset-backed securitization program (ABS
program) to sell trade receivables to a structured entity on a
revolving basis. Due to the seasonal nature of sales realization
in the agricultural equipment industry, substantial financing is
needed during the course of the year. By contrast, at the end
of the fiscal year, the relatively lower level of capital tied up in
working capital generally leads to a high liquidity level. The
ABS program helps to effectively reduce seasonal liquidity
fluctuations. The volume of receivables transferred amounted
to €213.5 million as of September 30, 2018 (prior year:
€237.4 million).

Future payment obligations from operating leases amounted
to €134.6 million (prior year: €124.3 million). Operating leases
are mainly used to finance real estate, as well as vehicle fleets
and IT equipment.

Asset and capital structure 2 4

Non-current assets were covered by long-term financing, con-
sisting of equity and non-current liabilities, at a ratio of 220.7%
as of the balance sheet date (prior year: 224.2%). Non-current
assets plus 50.0% of inventories were funded by long-term
financing at a ratio of 155.0% (prior year: 166.9%). These fig-
ures testify to the CLAAS Group’s sound capital structure.

in %
Assets Equity and liabilities
3,384.7 3,232.8 3,384.7 3,232.8
Total assets in € million 31.5 30.8 4.2 40.0
Non-current assets I I
26.7 21.2
Inventories 28.3 291 B Equity
181 19.0
W Other current assets . Non-current liabilities
037 29.0 30.5 30.9
B Liquid assets ’ W Current liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017



EXECUTIVE BODIES GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Cash Position

Cashflows 25

5_Statement of Cash Flows (Summary)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in € million 2018 2017 Change
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 226.6 512.5 -285.9
Cash flows from operating activities 85.0 345.0 -260.0
Cash flows from investing activities 345.0 -511.7 856.7
Cash flows from financing activities -46.6 -116.5 69.9
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -0.3 =27 2.4
Change in cash and cash equivalents 383.1 -285.9 669.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 609.7 226.6 383.1

The decrease in cash inflows from operating activities was
mainly due to the creation of current provisions, which was
significantly lower year on year, and the higher level of funds
tied up in working capital resulting from the increase in inven-
tories. The cash inflows from higher net income were only able
to partially compensate for these effects.

The change in the cash inflows from investing activities mainly
includes the net inflow from the purchases and sales of secu-
rities in the context of liquidity management of €513.9 million
(prior year: cash outflow of €376.3 million). Increased capital
expenditure reduced this effect.

The cash outflow from financing activities mainly resulted from
the change in liabilities to banks and from dividend payments.

Capital expenditure 27

Capital expenditure in the reporting year amounted to
€160.3 million. The additions mainly relate to investments in
the construction, expansion, and modernization of production
and sales sites, in new technologies, and in innovative prod-
ucts. The ratio of capital expenditure to sales stood at 4.1%
(prior year: 3.5%).

Investments in the construction, expansion, and modernization
of production and sales sites were mainly made in Germany,
the United Kingdom, and France.

The new test center at headquarters in Harsewinkel, Germany,
is expected to be completed in the 2018 calendar year. The
new test center will focus on testing the functions and dura-
bility of combine harvester, forage harvester, and tractor com-
ponents. The sophistication of modern agricultural machinery

The prior year’s cash outflow contained the partial repayment
of the Schuldscheindarlehen (German Private Placement).
There were no comparable events in the reporting year.

The development of the free cash flow due to the influences
described is as follows: 26

6_Free Cash Flow

in € million 2018 2017 Change
Cash flows from operating
activities 85.0 345.0 -260.0
Net capital expenditure in
intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment, borrowings, and
investments -168.9 -135.4 -33.5
Free cash flow -83.9 209.6 -293.5
7 -Capital Expenditure, Depreciation/Amortization,
and Impairment
in € million
122.2
2016 102.8
130.7
2017 116.2
| 160.3
2018 ] 112.7

B Capital expenditure
B Depreciation/amortization and impairment

is growing more and more, yet it also has to fulfill significantly
stricter legal requirements.
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The CLAAS Service and Parts GmbH logistics center in
Hamm, Germany, is being expanded. The plans call for the
construction of a completely new 4,400 m? high-bay ware-
house that will more than double the number of pallet bays so
as to ensure storage capacity for the further growth of the
parts business.

In October 2017, the new CLAAS Academy was opened as
part of the efforts to redesign and reorganize the headquarters
of CLAAS U.K. Ltd. in Saxham, United Kingdom. Completion

of the new sales building is scheduled for 2020.

The important project aimed at optimizing production layout at
the tractor site in Le Mans, France, continues.

Financial Position »s

8_Balance Sheet (Summary)

A new sales center that will pool activities in France is also
being built at the location in Ymeray, France. The site mea-
sures 15 hectares and will also contain the spare parts ware-
house and CLAAS Academy France.

In addition, CLAAS is investing in the expansion and digitaliza-
tion of business processes at all levels of the sales structure.
New systems and applications are set to make it even easier
for dealers and customers to communicate with each other.

Investments in the testing and production of new products
made within the scope of the extensive development program
accounted for a major share of capital expenditure.

At the end of the fiscal year, CLAAS had financial obligations
totaling €17.1 million relating to future capital expenditure.

in € million Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017 Change
Assets

Intangible assets 235.4 223.7 1.7
Property, plant and equipment 501.5 476.2 25.3
Investments accounted for using the equity method 135.5 115.3 20.2
Inventories 903.0 683.9 21941
Trade receivables 3401 332.6 7.5
Liquid assets 803.4 937.6 -134.2
Other assets 465.8 463.5 2.3
Total assets 3,384.7 3,232.8 151.9
Equity and liabilities

Equity 1,395.5 1,293.8 101.7
Financial liabilities 605.5 617.3 -11.8
Provisions 910.3 900.1 10.2
Trade payables 243.6 205.4 38.2
Other liabilities 229.8 216.2 13.6
Total equity and liabilities 3,384.7 3,232.8 151.9

Total Group assets rose by €151.9 million year on year to
€3,384.7 million. The change primarily reflects the positive
development of business and the increase in working capital.

At €235.4 million, intangible assets were up year on year,
primarily due to the €11.1 million increase in capitalized devel-
opment costs to €194.3 million.
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The rise in investments accounted for using the equity method
was mainly the result of the acquisition of 42% of the shares in
the newly founded SM3 CLAAS S.A.S., Fleury, France, as well
as the earnings contributions of the CLAAS Financial Services
companies. SM3 CLAAS S.A.S. pools the sales activities in
Normandy.

The increase in inventories played a key role in the rise in work-
ing capital. The factors behind this development included the
bunkering of engines due to new emissions regulations and
measures aimed at ensuring the supply of raw materials, con-
sumables, and supplies. The increasing regulatory hetero-
geneity in national markets when it comes to factors such as
emission standards or customs regulations makes it more
challenging to transfer products from one market to another
and makes it harder to respond quickly to weather-related
changes in demand, for example. Trade receivables and liabil-
ities developed in opposite directions and ultimately led to a
net reduction in working capital. The share of working capital
to total assets rose to 29.9%. Working capital developed as
follows: 29

9_Working Capital

in € million

2016 892.3
2017 839.5
2018 | 1,012.5

Research and Development

Research and development investments rose by 7.3% in the
reporting year to €233.4 million 2 10. The activities focused on
new models as well as developments in the area of tractors
and harvesting equipment. Investments in electronics archi-
tecture for machine control and connectivity, as well as in
the digitalization of agricultural processes, also continue to
account for a significant share of the CLAAS Group’s total
research and development costs.

Innovative products and developments

Thanks to the JAGUAR 900 and 800 series, CLAAS offers a
comprehensive program of extremely powerful and efficient
forage harvesters. Since AGRITECHNICA 2017, CLAAS has
been incorporating innovative functions such as the new
load detection feature that makes it easy to avoid overloading
trailers, thereby helping ensure better road safety.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other assets increased by €2.3 million to €465.8 million and
comprise deferred taxes, receivables from investments, and
assets from ABS transactions.

The change in the equity of the CLAAS Group was due to a
number of partially opposing effects. Net income of €152.0 mil-
lion, corresponding to return on equity of 10.9%, had a positive
effect. However, equity was decreased by the payments of the
dividend for fiscal year 2018 and negative effects from cur-
rency translation. The equity-to-assets ratio, that is, the share
of equity in total assets, amounted to 41.2% (prior year: 40.0%).

The decline in financial liabilities was mainly due to the reduc-
tion of liabilities to banks.

The slight rise in provisions was due to various effects, some of
which sent opposing signals. Whereas tax provisions and
sales obligations rose for business-related reasons, obliga-
tions to employees declined. Pension obligations were on par
with the prior year.

In addition to the silent partnership, other liabilities mainly

include prepaid expenses, other taxes, liabilities to invest-
ments, as well as bills payable.

10_Research and Development

2018 2017
Research and development costs (total) in € million 233.4 217.6
Research and development cost ratio in % 6.0 5.8
Development costs recognized as an asset in € million 43.7 40.9
R&D capitalization ratio in % 18.7 18.8
Amortization/impairment of development
costs recognized as an asset in € million 36.0 34.4
Share of workforce involved in research
and development at the CLAAS Group in % 12.2 1.7
Active patents Number 4,000 3,700
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CLAAS has launched the next generation of TUCANO with a
new CEBIS terminal and an expanded model range. For the
first time, the TUCANO series offers five MONTANA models
with slope leveling. Depending on the particular model,
machines with this feature are capable of up to 18% side-slope
leveling. The new CEBIS terminal, in combination with the
redesigned armrest, enables the driver to intuitively operate all
main functions — without prior training on the machine. In addi-
tion, the CEBIS can be operated as usual, using the control
panel, or by gaining direct access through the touch screen.

The ARION 400 tractor series has enabled CLAAS to suc-
cessfully position itself in the segment of compact 4-cylinder
tractors with 90 to 140 hp. Along with the wide range of mod-
els and optional features, customers primarily appreciate the
ease and convenience of operation as well as innovations such
as the PANORAMIC cab for working with front loaders. CLAAS
has now unveiled the latest generation of the ARION 400
series, with new features such as an additional cab option with
a transparent sunroof, a low-profile version for all models, and
an automatic compressed air dryer for the braking system.

In cooperation with its partner Liebherr, CLAAS used
AGRITECHNICA 2017 to unveil the TORION, the first wheel
loader series for all agricultural applications. The TORION is
a part of the Group’s efforts to meet the growing need for
efficient and powerful machines for professional transport
and materials handling in agriculture.

The proven SCORPION models from CLAAS have been rais-
ing the bar in terms of telehandler technology for many years.
CLAAS has now unveiled a completely new SCORPION series,
which has been developed in cooperation with Liebherr. The
new SCORPION models offer greater handling performance
thanks to increased lifting capacity and new advanced driver-
assistance systems, improved driver comfort and efficiency, as
well as improved safety and reliability.

The newly developed ROLLANT 540 fixed-chamber round
baler features new rollers and a stronger chassis. The serrated
profile of the 15 rollers maintains optimum bale rotation even
under moist conditions. There is a choice of net or film wrap-
ping. Changing the wrapping mode is a tool-free operation.

With the latest generation of front loaders, CLAAS has under-
scored its expertise in the field of materials handling. In addi-
tion to the entry-level FL E series, the established FL and FL C

series offer a wide range of options and features for greater
comfort and efficiency, including mechanical self-leveling link-
age and the FITLOCK system for easy fitting and removal of
the lift arms.

Having taken over the tire pressure control technology devel-
oped by R&M Landtechniksysteme (R&M), CLAAS Industrie-
technik GmbH in Paderborn, Germany, will manage and
develop R&M'’s systems. The R&M technology adds one-stop
solutions for tractors, trailers, and other agricultural vehicles to
the portfolio. The control technology enables users to switch
the tractor and trailer quickly from field to road pressure, mak-
ing the systems ideal for uses involving a frequent change in
tire pressure, including the transport of silage or manure.

Awards

CLAAS won three silver medals at this year's AGROSALON
exhibition in Moscow, Russia. The judges honored the new
CONVIO FLEX cutterbar, the automatic CROP FLOW control
system for the TUCANO combine harvester, and the REMOTE
SERVICE diagnostics system.

The CONVIO FLEX cutterbar delivers maximum performance
on crops such as soy, peas, and grass thanks to its flexible
knife bar. The automatic CROP FLOW control system won
the judges over with its continuous threshing system speed
monitoring, residual grain separation system, straw chopper,
and engine designed to help avoid blockage and overloading.

By enabling remote access to CLAAS harvest machinery and
tractors, the new CLAAS REMOTE SERVICE function makes it
possible to provide direct service and maintenance support
while also allowing CLAAS sales partners to make repairs.

The MAX CUT mower bar won second place in the category
honoring products made from steel at the 2018 Stahl-
Innovationspreis (Steel Innovation Prize). The mower bar is
produced on a state-of-the-art assembly line at the CLAAS
plant in Bad Saulgau and is used in the DISCO mowers. The
mower bed structure of the MAX CUT is stamped from a
single piece, making it possible to achieve an optimum wave-
shaped design with maximum stability. The wave shape makes
it possible to put the mowing discs in a forward position,
increasing the cut surface area. Unlike with the conventional
technology, the mower bars are screwed in rather than welded.
The lack of weld seams makes it possible to utilize the full
strength potential of the steel used.
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Purchasing

Fiscal year 2018 was characterized by high prices, primarily for
steel, non-ferrous metals, and plastics. Following the signifi-
cant rise in fiscal years 2016 and 2017, the price of steel is
nearly as high as it was in 2010. In addition, the free capacities
at many suppliers continued to decrease in fiscal year 2018,
necessitating extensive additional procurement efforts to safe-
guard supplies. This market situation enabled suppliers to
demand increasingly high prices.

To counteract the resulting effects, a focus was placed on
stepping up activities aimed at optimizing product costs and
global sourcing. Global sourcing has seen sharply rising vol-
ume from China and a doubling of purchasing volumes from
India over the past two years.

Employees

HR indicators 211

At €693.0 million, personnel expenses were up by around
2.9% year on year (prior year: €673.5 million). As of September
30, 2018, the CLAAS Group employed a total of 11,132 people
(prior year: 10,961) worldwide, approximately 52.4% of which
outside of Germany 2 12. This reflects the current global eco-
nomic development of the agricultural industry.

11 _HR indicators

2018 2017
Employees as of the balance sheet date' Number 11,132 10,961
Male employees in % 86.7 86.8
Female employees in % 13.3 13.2
Average age in years 39.8 40.0
Length of service in years 11.9 12.3
Fluctuation in % 8.4 77
Personnel expenses in € million 693.0 673.5
Vocational and further training costs in € million 18.2 17.8

" Including apprentices.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The area of logistics was characterized by rising transport
rates in fiscal year 2018. This increase was due to a tense sit-
uation with regard to human resources capacity. It was possi-
ble to limit the increase in inbound rates. The contracts are
valid for a two-year term. It was possible to attract additional
logistics providers for transports of CLAAS machines. The
completion of tender contracts in Central Asia demonstrated
the high performance of the logistics organization. In coopera-
tion with our partners, the logistics organization succeeded in
finding forward-looking solutions to logistics bottlenecks on
distances of over 7,000 km, significantly shortening the trans-
port time of urgent shipments.

Activities also focused on optimizing purchasing processes.
This entails the systematic development of catalog solutions
and the semi-automation of low-complexity orders.

12_Employees by Region
Employees/in % compared to prior year

1,565
(-3.5%)
m Germany
1,435 .
11.0% rance
(11.0%) 5,205
(+3.8%) B Rest of Western Europe
591
(+1.4%) Central and Eastern Europe
Other countries
2,246
(-4.9%)
Training

As of September 30, 2018, the CLAAS Group employed
714 apprentices (prior year: 677), 407 (prior year: 405) of
which in Germany. CLAAS trains young people in Germany
in various technical and business professions, and as part of
the German “dual study” system. The same applies to the
other countries in which CLAAS has operations, such as
France, Hungary, the United Kingdom, and India.
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Personnel development

At CLAAS, strategic corporate objectives are directly con-
nected with targeted investments in its employees. During the
course of their careers, employees are offered qualification
and further education opportunities. Vocational qualifications
include a range of measures, such as workplace learning,
seminars, workshops, or attending conferences.

Junior staff development

CLAAS cooperates closely with schools and institutions of
higher education, and exercises a wide range of vocational
training and orientation initiatives. Fairs, training days, and
internships enable young people to establish early contact
with the potential employer. School graduates may also apply
to complete technical or commercial vocational training at any
of our sites in Germany or enter into a bachelor’'s program at
the Duale Hochschule Baden-Wurttemberg. Maintaining con-
tact with apprentices, students participating in the “dual study”
system, and interns even after their time at the Company is
very important to CLAAS. The CLAAS Next Generation alumni
program is used in a targeted manner to ensure the loyalty of
talented young people in the long term. After finishing their
studies, direct entry positions or the international trainee
program offer a great opportunity for graduates to start their
careers at CLAAS. The award-winning trainee program
focuses on engineering, finance/controlling, and sales.

Employer rankings and employer branding

CLAAS has successfully positioned itself as an attractive com-
pany among its target groups so as to continue securing talent
for CLAAS in the future. CLAAS is regarded as being a popular
employer among both German and international students, a
fact that is confirmed every year by the top positions that
CLAAS secures in the employer rankings. In recognition of its
successful personnel marketing activities, the Trendence Insti-
tute has nominated CLAAS as having the best employer
branding for students in Germany. Moreover, CLAAS is one of
the top three employers in the field of mechanical engineering.
CLAAS is also actively and systematically encouraging young
women to enter technical professions.

Performance-based pay

As a responsible employer, we offer our employees competi-
tive, performance-based pay that is aligned to the long-term
requirements of CLAAS. Systematic job evaluation ensures
that our remuneration structures are both sound and com-
mensurate. All domestic employees may become silent part-
ners of CLAAS through CMG Claas-Mitarbeiterbeteiligungs-
Gesellschaft mbH. We aim to create a balance between
business interests of the CLAAS Group and employees’ pro-
fessional, personal, and family needs. This includes offering
employees the option to have flexible working hours, learn
more about the need for a work-life balance, and to take
advantage of home office regulations.

Women in leadership positions

Young women are actively encouraged early on in their voca-
tional training or studies. The measures in place include, among
others a mentoring program for women studying science,
technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM). As a result,
the share of women applying for our apprenticeship and
trainee programs is high.

In July 2017, CLAAS approved targets related to the German
law on the equal participation of women and men in leadership
positions that are valid through June 30, 2022, and aim to
keep the number of women in leadership positions at least sta-
ble or, if possible, to increase it. The target for the Supervisory
Board stands at 8.3%. The target for the first management
level stands at 7.7%, with the target for the second manage-
ment level at 4.0%. In setting these targets, CLAAS took into
account industry-specific circumstances and the current per-
centage of women on staff.
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Risks and Opportunities

Internal control and risk management system

As a globally active corporate group, CLAAS is subject to
various types of risk. Taking preventive measures to counter
possible risks, as well as identifying, measuring, and ade-
quately responding to these risks at an early stage, are key
components of the CLAAS risk management system. At
CLAAS, taking entrepreneurial action also means deliberately
entering into calculable risk to allow the Company to take
advantage of the related opportunities.

Within the CLAAS Group, a uniform, Group-wide risk manage-
ment system is an integral part of corporate management and
control. This serves to take advantage of opportunities, iden-
tify any significant risk that could endanger the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern, and ensure appro-
priate risk handling. The risk management system and imple-
mented risk controlling utilize a wide variety of information for
ongoing identification, evaluation, and control of risks. The
existing system, which is continually being developed further,
complies with all statutory early warning requirements in full.

The Group’s reporting system represents an essential element
in the continuous monitoring of economic risks. In addition to
the external data supplied for external reporting, detailed inter-
nal reports and evaluations are provided to decision makers on
a monthly basis. Budgets are monitored for deviations, earn-
ings projections for feasibility, and any new risks are identified,
evaluated, and documented on an ongoing basis. Assessment
takes place over a period of at least two years; however, some
risks are identified and monitored that extend over a longer
time frame. The management report usually covers a period of
twelve months. Risks are assessed on the basis of the proba-
bility of occurrence of an estimated maximum liability risk
before the implementation of counter-measures.

Within existing organizational structures, the risk management
system is accounted for and supported by the operating and
administrative areas of responsibility. In addition to the regular
information provided, an obligation to prepare ad hoc risk
reports ensures prompt management action at all times.
The Internal Auditing department of CLAAS is responsible for
monitoring the adequacy of the risk management system and
conformity with regulations.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The aim of the internal control and risk management system for
the financial reporting process and the Group financial report-
ing process is to ensure the effectiveness of the accounting
system and its adherence to generally accepted accounting
principles and guarantee compliance with statutory norms,
financial reporting standards, and intragroup accounting poli-
cies, which are binding for all companies included in the con-
solidated financial statements. The key information on this is
available to the entire Group via the CLAAS intranet. CLAAS
ensures that all information is up to date by conducting contin-
uous analyses of any changes to determine their relevance and
their impact on the financial statements. The Group Account-
ing department is primarily responsible for this task. CLAAS
prepares its financial statements using a Group-wide reporting
system that is also used for preparation of the budget, medi-
um-term planning, and estimates during the fiscal year. The
reporting system incorporates principles, processes, and con-
trols to ensure that the financial statements comply with all
requirements and are submitted on time. The following exam-
ples are representative of the principles, processes, and con-
trol mechanisms:

= Group-wide specifications for accounting, measurement,
and account coding of key items that are updated and com-
municated to the responsible departments within the scope
of training courses on an ongoing basis;

= Organizational measures in combination with access autho-
rizations for accounting systems, separation of tasks, and
rights of disposal;

= Dual control of financial reporting processes and in connec-
tion with the preparation of the financial statements;

= Internal audit procedures;

= Activities of external service providers.

The Internal Auditing department conducts regular reviews as
well as reviews on a case-by-case basis of key business pro-
cesses at companies in Germany and abroad. It determines
whether legal requirements and internal instructions are being
adhered to, and whether the internal control system is effective
and functional. As part of the reviews, the Internal Auditing
department agrees on suitable measures with the respective
company management team, which are then implemented by
the company. The Internal Auditing department also monitors
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their implementation. All audit results are reported as well.
Internal audit activities, such as annual and audit planning,
documentation of audit activities and results, reporting, and
follow-up measures, are set forth in rules for the Internal Audit-
ing department and an audit manual. The tasks and activities
are based on the rules of the Institute of Internal Auditors and
of Deutsches Institut fur Interne Revision, and they are sup-
ported by audit software. In the most recent financial year, an
audit of the internal audit system in accordance with IDW
PS 983 demonstrated full compliance with the quality assess-
ment requirements.

More details on the main risks and opportunities are provided
below.

Market risk

The risk landscape of CLAAS is affected by variations in
harvest vyields, decisions on agricultural policies, farmers’
incomes, as well as intense competition in the industry. In view
of demand trends for agricultural equipment, markets in Asia,
especially China and India, as well as in Central and Eastern
Europe, above all Russia, are of particular importance for the
CLAAS Group. These markets have huge potential; however,
CLAAS sales activities are hampered in some countries in
these regions on account of the prevailing market conditions
there. These include customs barriers, minimum requirements
relating to the share of local manufacturing, payment and con-
vertibility restrictions, or political and economic insecurity. At
the same time, there are opportunities that go above and
beyond current planning that can emerge from quicker growth
in markets with a comparatively low level of mechanization.
Risks and opportunities are managed centrally by monitoring
and evaluating market-related indicators in conjunction with
the specific country risks.

Markets and their early warning indicators are carefully
observed on an ongoing basis in order to identify any fluctua-
tions in demand or changing buying behavior in sales regions
at an early stage. This ensures that product strategies are kept
up to date and are adapted in response to changing customer
requirements and reactions from competitors.

Research and development risk

Along with controlled risk-taking, acting entrepreneurially at
CLAAS involves dealing in depth with all risks along the value-
added chain. With innovation cycles becoming increasingly
shorter, research and development play a pivotal role. The
aim is to ensure that innovative and technically mature prod-
ucts are created and brought to market for the benefit of

customers. Risks from possible mistakes in development,
increased start-up costs for new products, or delays to prod-
uct launches are counteracted through the systematic expan-
sion and ongoing monitoring of research and development
activities. At the same time, these activities safeguard the
technological edge of CLAAS and therefore its key competitive
advantages. For further information, please see the “Research
and Development” section for a comprehensive description of
these activities. CLAAS counteracts the risk that products may
not be developed within the planned time frame, at targeted
levels of quality, or at the specified costs by continuously and
systematically monitoring the progress of all projects using a
clearly defined process.

Purchasing risk

On the procurement market, risks arise from potential supplier
defaults and quality issues. Risks related to the price develop-
ment of commodities such as steel have materialized in some
cases in the past years.

Due to the generally favorable economic situation, supply risks
are currently a key focus. The careful selection of suppliers is
crucial here as well. It requires systematically following the
defined supplier strategies, along with continuous technical
and financing auditing.

Production risk

In the CLAAS production area, all equipment is serviced reg-
ularly, and any potential sources of risk are eliminated by mod-
ifying the equipment in order to reduce the risk of production
downtime. In addition, advantageous insurance contracts
protect CLAAS from the effects of production outages. Flexi-
ble working time models ensure that the required human
resources can be adjusted to meet the degree of capacity uti-
lization. To reduce quality risk, a central quality management
department guarantees adherence to and fulfilment of pre-
defined standards.

Personnel risk

CLAAS has a constant need for highly qualified specialists and
management executives. At the moment, CLAAS does not see
itself exposed to risks arising from a shortage of certain types
of employees on the labor market and resulting delays in find-
ing successors for critical positions. With its personnel strat-
egy, CLAAS focuses above all on in-house junior staff advance-
ment as well as systematic training and personnel development.
Aside from dual study programs, the international trainee pro-
gram ensures that highly qualified employees can be trained
within the Company. In addition, CLAAS also offers measures
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to promote and maintain employee health. For a compre-
hensive description of personnel activities, please see the
“Employees” section.

IT risk

Business processes at CLAAS are supported by powerful,
state-of-the-art IT systems. The Group’s uniform global IT
strategy allows systems as well as security strategies and
concepts to be effectively and continuously adapted to
reflect current requirements and developments. Cybersecurity
threats are actively and continuously monitored. Based on its
insights from the monitoring activities, the Group prepares
related organizational and technological measures for enhanc-
ing IT security, which are then permanently carried out.

In order to avoid disruption, CLAAS places particular impor-
tance on standardized hardware and software environments,
the integrity and safety of data, and on permissions manage-
ment. Reliable data backup systems are complemented by
systematic and varied employee training.

Legal risk

CLAAS is exposed to risks relating to international and national
tax, competition, patent, trade, and liability law. Decisions at
the CLAAS Group are made after intensive legal review and
consultation so as to avoid these risks. Selected risks are
transferred to insurance companies by means of global master
policies and national framework agreements on a uniform
basis across the Group.

Financial risk

Due to its business activity, the CLAAS Group is exposed to
risks and opportunities from exchange rate and interest rate
volatility. On the procurement side, the CLAAS Group is
exposed to commodity and supply security risks. Credit risks
that could result from payment default or delayed payments
are minimized through effective receivables management,
close cooperation with banks, and credit insurance. Liquidity
risk can result from a significant decline in operating business
performance, restriction of the free movement of capital, or as
a result of the risk categories mentioned above. These risks
are identified for the entire CLAAS Group and measured, mon-
itored, and managed centrally by Group Treasury. The hedging
instruments primarily used are foreign exchange outrights and
options, as well as interest rate swaps. The risk management
software in use enables independent valuations, performance
measurement, and forward-looking scenario simulations of the
utilized financial instruments. CLAAS is fully compliant with the
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risk management requirements that the European Market
Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR) of the European Parliament
and the European Council imposes on non-financial counter-
parties below the clearing threshold.

CLAAS measures liquidity development on an ongoing basis
in the form of daily, weekly, and monthly reports with an
increasing level of detail. Potential liquidity risks are countered
by maintaining sufficient financing commitments and cash and
cash equivalents, as well as through the ABS program and the
international cash management strategy.

Risk management in relation to financial instruments, as well
as the quantifying of concluded hedging instruments, is
explained in Notes 33 and 34 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Strategic refinancing risks are managed at CLAAS by a rela-
tively long duration target for drawn borrowings.

Risks related to payment security have become increasingly
important in recent years. CLAAS is responding to this con-
stantly growing challenge through Group-wide information and
training for employees in affected areas, the monitoring of
payment transactions as part of the scope of the cash man-
agement process, clear responsibility structures and process
definitions, and the systematic implementation of dual control
at all process levels, especially payment execution, among
other measures.

In the area of dealer and sales financing, the CLAAS policy of
following a traditional captive financing model only to a limited
extent has paid off. The risk mix has remained sustainable
thanks to the close integration of CLAAS Financial Services
companies into the risk reporting system of a major European
commercial bank known for its conservative approach, and
the practice of concentrating primarily on business with retail
customers.

Overall risk assessment

Following the continuous analysis of the information provided
by risk management and risk controlling in fiscal year 2018,
all quantified risks were deemed to be not material. For infor-
mation on the existing financial risks, please see the notes to
the financial statements. There are currently no identifiable
risks for 2019 that could endanger the existence of the CLAAS
Group or any of its major subsidiaries as going concerns,
either individually or in conjunction with other risks.
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Outlook

Economic frameworks

The IMF estimates that global economic output measured
according to gross domestic product will rise by 3.7% in 2019
and thereby match the development seen in 2018 and 2017
(as of October 2018). In the U.S., growth is expected to slow
down to 2.5% (prior year: 2.9%). The situation is similar in the
EU, where the forecast calls for growth of 2.0% following 2.2%
in 2018. China is expected to see growth of 6.2% (prior year:
6.6%), as global trade conflicts, among other factors, are put-
ting the brakes on growth.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) expects to see sta-
ble global grain production (including rice) for the current crop
year (2018/19). At 731 million tons, the USDA estimates that
the wheat harvest will fall short of the record level set in the
prior year (759 million tons) due to the dry weather conditions.
Global wheat consumption is expected to increase slightly.
Following several years of overproduction, consumption will
exceed production for the first time in quite a while. As a result,
prices will rise slightly year on year on an annual average. At
1,068 million tons, the new corn harvest will significantly
exceed last year’s result (1,034 million tons). Global inventories
will nevertheless decrease, as in crop year 2017 /18, due to
the stronger rise in global consumption. Consequently, corn
prices stand to develop positively as well.

The situation on the global milk market is currently character-
ized again by an expansion of production. The Food and Agri-
culture Organization of the United Nations expects global dairy
volume to increase by 2.1% in 2018. Growth will primarily come
from Europe, Asia, and North America. High forage costs
could negatively impact operating revenue in the parts of
Europe affected by dry conditions.

In total, the development of farms’ incomes will vary substan-
tially from region to region in the EU and the U.S. Following
recovery in 2017, farms in the U.S. in particular will again face
declines. However, the government-led Market Facilitation
Program may be able to partially compensate for any losses.

Against this background, the global professional agricultural
equipment market is expected to continue experiencing stable
development.

Regional industry developments

The market in Western Europe will be characterized by stabil-
ity. Following positive development in the past year, extensive
regional crop failures could weaken the profitability of agricul-
tural operations in Northeastern Europe due to the drought in
that part of the world. In total, European grain production will
be down roughly 7% year on year. The higher price levels
mean opportunities for farmers, especially in regions with
good or average yields. Higher forage costs in regions affected
by dry conditions are having a negative impact on dairy farms.
However, this effect is being offset by stable prices. In addition,
the expanding structural change will continue to support
demand for professional agricultural equipment.

The market development in Eastern Europe will continue to be
characterized by uncertainty in grain year 2018/19. A decline
in wheat production from the high level seen in the prior year is
having a negative impact on agricultural incomes in Russia,
which is also being counteracted by positive price develop-
ment. With the significant need to catch up with regard to
professional agricultural equipment remaining a key driver in
the industry, the general expectation is for stable development.
Tenders for agricultural modernization efforts will also continue
to impact the market.
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Outlook

The North American professional agricultural machinery mar-
ket will be characterized by uncertainty due to trade conflicts.
Farmers’ incomes are expected to decrease year on year,
resulting in the risk of negative development.

Market expectations in Latin America remain stable to positive.
Good harvest prospects for corn and soy, coupled with rising
exports due to the trade conflict between the U.S. and China,
point to growth opportunities in agriculture, especially in Brazil.
However, the currently instable economic conditions in some
countries in the region, particularly in Argentina, make the out-
come more difficult to forecast.

Asia’s agricultural equipment markets will see positive devel-
opment overall. According to current forecasts, rice produc-
tion will not entirely match the high level seen in the prior year.
The biggest driving forces for Asia’s markets remain the
increasing demand for meat and dairy products, the lower
degree of mechanization compared to farming practices in
Western countries, and subsidization policies.

Global trade conflicts, which also affect agricultural goods,
pose a general risk. Unforeseen climatic influences, political
unrest, general stability risks within the European Union, and
the impact of the Brexit negotiations must also be taken into
account. Risks also arise from the volatility of procurement
prices for energy, steel, and other commodities — especially
against the backdrop of trade conflicts — as well as from the
development of currencies significant to CLAAS, such as the
U.S. dollar, the British pound, and the Russian ruble. In addi-
tion, revised agricultural policy in key markets such as the U.S.,
China, and the EU will affect the overall conditions. Moreover,
African swine fever poses a risk to agriculture in Asia and
Europe. We are monitoring these risks carefully and taking
appropriate measures where necessary.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General statement on the development of business

and outlook

Against the backdrop of the economic conditions and the
development of the industry, the development of business in
2018 was encouraging. Overall, the business performance
met our expectations and even exceeded them with regard to
sales and income. Given the current market assessment, we
expect moderate sales growth for the CLAAS Group in fiscal
year 2019. In light of simmering international trade conflicts
and the trade, financial, and other sanctions imposed against
the Russian Federation by the European Union, the U.S.,
and other countries, as well as countermeasures taken by the
Russian Federation, negative effects on the sales and income
of the CLAAS Group cannot be ruled out. We will nonetheless
continue to systematically pursue our strategy and strengthen
the position of our products in the growth markets Eastern
Europe and Asia. The capital expenditures in the current year
will be higher than in 2018. If market conditions change, the
volume can be flexibly adapted. The development of innovative
products and intelligent technologies will continue apace in
the current fiscal year. However, it will take some time for the
expenses associated with such development work to be
reflected in corresponding revenues. Efforts to enhance effi-
ciency and sustainable cost reductions will also continue in the
current year. We anticipate earnings before taxes to remain
stable year on year in the current fiscal year 2019.
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Consolidated Income Statement
of the CLAAS Group for the fiscal year from October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018

in €’000 Note 2018 2017
Net sales @) 3,889,178 3,760,985
Cost of sales -3,043,124 -2,944,390
Gross profit on sales 846,054 816,595
Selling expenses -244192 -241,655
General and administrative expenses -166,818 -166,657
Research and development expenses 8) -225,682 -211,144
Other operating income (10) 98,116 81,946
Other operating expenses (10) -53,745 -66,754
Operating income 253,733 212,331
Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net (11) 17,417 12,814
Income from other investments, net (11) 1,448 1,324
Financial result (12) -46,914 -41,987

thereof: interest and similar expenses (-31,084) (-30,739)
Income before taxes 225,684 184,482
Income taxes (13) -78,712 -69,035
Net income 151,972 115,447

thereof: attributable to shareholders of CLAAS KGaA mbH 151,665 114,774

thereof: attributable to minority interests 307 673
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

preh |

of the CLAAS Group for the fiscal year from October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018
in €°000 Note 2018 2017
Net income 151,972 115,447
ltems to be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Net unrealized gains/losses from currency translation -9,259 -5,454

Net unrealized gains/losses from securities -2,334 2,690

Net unrealized gains/losses from derivative financial instruments (83) -4,906 194
Iltems never to be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans (28) 832 51,507
Other comprehensive income, after taxes -15,667 48,937
Comprehensive income 136,305 164,384

thereof: attributable to shareholders of CLAAS KGaA mbH 135,998 163,711

thereof: attributable to minority interests 307 673
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
of the CLAAS Group as of September 30, 2018

in €’000 Note Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
Assets

Intangible assets (14) 235,438 223,670
Property, plant and equipment (15) 501,504 476,239
Investments accounted for using the equity method (16) 135,508 115,346
Other investments 2,934 3,640
Deferred tax assets (13) 140,287 136,401
Tax assets 2,465 -
Other financial assets (19) 9,946 5,855
Other non-financial assets (20) 38,750 34,491
Non-current assets 1,066,832 995,642
Inventories (17) 903,006 683,851
Trade receivables (18) 340,147 332,620
Tax assets 8,883 10,079
Other financial assets (19) 190,996 208,229
Other non-financial assets (20) 71,380 64,737
Securities (21) 193,706 711,053
Cash and cash equivalents (22) 609,727 226,555
Current assets 2,317,845 2,237,124
Total assets 3,384,677 3,232,766
Equity and liabilities

Subscribed capital 78,000 78,000
Capital reserves 38,347 38,347
Other reserves 1,274,799 1,172,230
Equity before minority interests 1,391,146 1,288,577
Minority interests 4,336 5175
Equity (23) 1,395,482 1,293,752
Financial liabilities (24) 551,204 546,693
Silent partnership (25) 48,270 45,209
Deferred tax liabilities (13) 2,891 2,256
Other financial liabilities (26) 8,292 6,689
Pension provisions (28) 300,738 298,119
Other provisions (29) 47,014 39,848
Non-current liabilities 958,409 938,814
Financial liabilities (24) 54,317 70,576
Trade payables 243,620 205,372
Other financial liabilities (26) 77,142 76,538
Other non-financial liabilities 27) 93,202 85,583
Income tax provisions (29) 38,467 31,788
Other provisions (29) 524,038 530,343
Current liabilities 1,030,786 1,000,200
Total equity and liabilities 3,384,677 3,232,766
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

of the CLAAS Group for the fiscal year from October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018

in €’000 Note 2018 2017
Net income 151,972 115,447
Amortization/impairment of intangible assets and depreciation/impairment of property, plant and equipment (14), (15) 112,692 116,173
Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net, if non-cash (16) -17,417 -12,814
Change in non-current provisions 8,397 10,318
Change in deferred taxes -1,456 -2,804
Other non-cash expenses (+)/income (-) 9,436 27,790
Cash earnings 263,624 254,110
Change in current provisions 2,446 72,801
Income from the disposal of non-current assets and securities -1,697 -1,440
Change in working capital -196,482 35,199
thereof: inventories (-240,089) (37,222)
thereof: trade receivables (-15,644) (-33,316)
thereof: trade payables (42,911) (85,075)
Other change in assets/equity and liabilities, if not investing or financing activities 17,165 -15,696
Cash flows from operating activities (35) 85,056 344,974
Payments for investments in
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (net of development costs recognized as an asset) - 113,337 -87,901
Shares of fully consolidated companies and investments -477 -18,918
Borrowings -57,289 -36,714
Receipts from disposals/divestments
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 3,388 2,969
Shares of fully consolidated companies and investments 1,628 2,581
Borrowings 44,140 38,922
Repayment of financial receivables of deconsolidated companies - 6,491
Additions to development costs recognized as an asset (14) -46,983 -42,837
Change in securities 513,898 -376,328
Cash flows from investing activities 344,968 -511,735
Proceeds from the increase in loans and the issuance of bonds 236,433 221,345
Repayment of bonds and loans -251,790 -306,782
Repayment of lease liabilities - -225
Proceeds from silent partnership 3,061 2,768
Change in liabilities to shareholders 325 -328
Payment to minority shareholders -1,622 -154
Dividend payments (23) -33,072 -33,072
Cash flows from financing activities -46,565 -116,448
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -287 -2,726
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 383,172 -285,935
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (22) 226,555 512,490
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (22) 609,727 226,555
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

of the CLAAS Group as of September 30, 2018

Other reserves

Accumulated other

Retained earnings comprehensive income
Remea-
surements
of defined Equity
Sub- benefit Foreign Derivative before
scribed Capital Accumu- pensions currency financial minority Minority
in €’000 capital reserves lated profit plans translation  Securities instruments interests interests Equity
Balance as of Oct. 1, 2016 78,000 38,347 1,227,173 -107,753 -67,169 -753 -11,753 | 1,156,092 4,656 | 1,160,748
Net income - - 114,774 - - - - 114,774 673 115,447
Other comprehensive income - - - 51,507 -5,454 2,690 194 48,937 - 48,937
Comprehensive income - - 114,774 51,507 -5,454 2,690 194 163,711 673 164,384
Dividend payments - - -33,072 - - - - -33,072 -154 -33,226
Consolidation adjustments - - 1,846 - - - - 1,846 - 1,846
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 78,000 38,347 1,310,721 -56,246 -72,623 1,937 -11,659 | 1,288,577 5,175 | 1,293,752
Net income - - 151,665 - - - - 161,665 307 161,972
Other comprehensive income - - - 832 -9,259 -2,334 -4,906 -15,667 - -15,667
Comprehensive income - - 151,665 832 -9,259 -2,334 -4,906 135,998 307 136,305
Dividend payments - - -33,072 - - - - -33,072 -257 -33,329
Consolidation adjustments - - -357 - - - - -357 -889 -1,246
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 78,000 38,347 1,428,957 -55,414 -81,882 -397 -16,465 | 1,391,146 4,336 | 1,395,482
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidation and Accounting

1. Basis of Presentation

CLAAS KGaA mbH, with registered office in Harsewinkel,
Germany, is the parent company of the CLAAS Group (in
the following, “CLAAS” or the “CLAAS Group”). The Company
is registered in the commercial register of Gltersloh, Germany,
District Court under the number HRB 3027. CLAAS, a family-
owned company, is a global producer and vendor of agricultural
equipment and software solutions for farming applications.

These consolidated financial statements of the CLAAS Group
were prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union
(EVU) and the additional requirements of German commercial
law pursuant to Section 315e of the German Commercial Code
(HGB). Prior-year figures were determined in accordance with
the same principles.

The consolidated financial statements consist of the consoli-
dated income statement, the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the con-
solidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, as well as the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. To improve the clarity of presentation,

2. Scope of Consolidation

The companies included in the scope of consolidation are all
significant companies, including the structured entities that are
directly or indirectly controlled by CLAAS KGaA mbH. Control
exists if CLAAS KGaA mbH has power over the investee on the
basis of voting rights or other rights, it has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and has the abil-
ity to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that
voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding
who controls the entity. Within the CLAAS Group, this applies

individual items within the consolidated balance sheet and
the consolidated income statement have been combined.
These items are presented separately and explained in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The consoli-
dated income statement was prepared using the cost of sales
method of accounting.

Please refer to Note 5 for details on the accounting and valua-
tion policies.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in
euros (€). Unless stated otherwise, amounts are stated in thou-
sands of euros (€ '000).

These consolidated financial statements relate to the fiscal
year from October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2018.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on
November 26, 2018 by the Executive Board of CLAAS KGaA
mbH. Approval of the consolidated financial statements by the
Supervisory Board is planned for December 6, 2018 at the
scheduled Supervisory Board meeting.

to the investment fund CHW Fonds as well as the financing
company Mercator Purchasing S.A., both registered in Luxem-
bourg; these companies are included in the consolidated
financial statements as structured entities. CLAAS uses the
financing company to settle the revolving sale of receivables.

Associates are entities over which CLAAS has significant
influence but does not have control or joint control of the
entities’ financial and operating policies. Associates are
accounted for using the equity method.
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Where CLAAS shares control of an entity together with a part-
ner, it must be specified whether the entity is a joint operation
or a joint venture. In a joint venture, the parties that have joint
control have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. As a
rule, joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
A joint operation exists when the parties that have joint control
have direct rights to the assets and obligations for the liabili-
ties. In this case, the prorated assets and liabilities, as well as
the prorated income and expenses, are to be recognized as a
rule. The joint operations included in the consolidated financial
statements as of the reporting date have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements and are accounted for
using the equity method.

Investments in subsidiaries, in joint ventures, or in associates
considered to be immaterial from the point of view of the Group
are accounted in accordance with IAS 39.

3. Consolidation Principles

The financial statements have been prepared using the uniform
accounting policies relevant for the CLAAS Group. As a rule,
the financial statements are prepared as of the balance sheet
date of the consolidated financial statements. Where country-
specific laws demand otherwise, subsidiaries whose fiscal
years do not end on September 30 prepare interim financial
statements as of this date.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method when the Group obtains control. If the purchase price
exceeds the revalued prorated net assets of the acquired sub-
sidiary, the difference is capitalized as goodwill and subject to
an annual impairment test. Any differences arising on the liabil-
ities side are reported as other operating income.

4. Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions in foreign currency are recognized at the relevant
exchange rates on the transaction date. In subsequent peri-
ods, financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates on the balance

A breakdown of the scope of consolidation is presented in the
following table:

Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017

Consolidated subsidiaries 66 66
thereof: domestic companies (21) 21)
thereof: foreign companies (45) (45)

Investments accounted for

using the equity method 12 11
thereof: domestic companies ) (@)
thereof: foreign companies 8) 7)

Please see Note 40 for a complete list of the shareholdings
of the CLAAS Group.

Newly Established Companies, Investments in Companies,
and Divestments

There were no material newly established companies, invest-
ments in companies, and divestments in fiscal year 2018.

First-time consolidation and deconsolidation are generally
undertaken on the date of transfer of control.

All receivables and payables, income and expenses, as well as
intercompany gains and losses between the consolidated enti-
ties are eliminated within the scope of the consolidation.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method. The interests are initially recognized
at cost. Possibly acquired goodwill is not reported separately,
but is instead included in the value of the investment. After ini-
tial measure, the consolidated financial statements include the
share of the income until such time as the significant influence
or joint control ends.

sheet date. The exchange rate gains and losses incurred until
the balance sheet date from the measurement of financial
assets and liabilities are recognized as profit or loss in the
income statement.
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The assets and liabilities of foreign companies with functional
currencies that do not match the Group currency are trans-
lated into euros at the daily closing price on the balance sheet
date. Equity items are translated using historic rates. The
expenses and income of foreign companies are translated into
euros at the corresponding average exchange rate for the

fiscal year. Differences resulting from currency translations are
recognized directly in equity as other comprehensive income.

The following exchange rates were used for the currencies
significant to the CLAAS Group:

Average rate/€

Closing rate/€

2018 2017 Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
British pound GBP 0.88 0.87 0.89 0.88
Chinese renminbi CNY 7.79 7.56 8.00 7.85
Indian rupee INR 79.46 73.01 84.24 7714
Polish zloty PLN 4.24 4.29 4.28 4.31
Russian ruble RUB 72.10 65.95 76.02 67.98
Hungarian forint HUF 316.99 309.15 323.44 310.75
U.S. dollar uSsSD 119 1.1 1.16 1.18

5. Accounting Policies

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are capitalized at cost
and, dependent on their expected useful lives, amortized over
a period of generally three to ten years on a straight-line basis.
Useful lives are assessed each year.

The amortization of concessions, industrial and similar rights
and assets, and licenses in such rights is reported under cost
of sales. Amortization and impairments of capitalized develop-
ment costs are recognized as research and development
expenses.

Goodwill is accounted for at cost less any accumulated impair-
ment losses and is tested for impairment annually, as well as
when there are indications of a possible impairment. Impair-
ment losses are recognized as other operating expenses.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Borrowing costs are capitalized if conditions are met and are
depreciated over the expected useful lives of the property,

plant and equipment once these have been completed. Prop-
erty plant and equipment — with the exception of land and sim-
ilar rights — is generally depreciated over its useful life on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives of buildings are between 20
and 50 years, while other property, plant and equipment have
useful lives of between three and 25 years. Depreciation and
impairment losses are generally recognized as expenses for
the period.

Borrowing Costs

Any borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized
as a part of the cost of that asset. CLAAS defines qualifying
assets as development or construction projects or other assets
that will require at least twelve months to complete to a point
at which they will be ready for their intended use or sale. If
borrowings can be directly allocated to one project, the actual
borrowing costs are capitalized. If there is no direct relation,
the average capitalization rate of the CLAAS Group is applied.
The borrowing cost rate for the reporting period is 2.9%
p.a. (prior year: 2.7% p.a.).
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Impairment

Goodwill as well as assets that are not available for use are not
amortized, but are instead tested for impairment annually as of
the balance sheet date. Assets subject to amortization are
tested for impairment if there are indications that the carrying
amount of the asset is lower than its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use
and the fair value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount is
determined for each individual asset unless assets have been
combined into a cash generating unit. The value in use is
based on the present value of the expected future cash flows.
If the value in use is less than the carrying amount, an impair-
ment loss is immediately recognized as profit or loss. Any sub-
sequent increases in value are accounted for by attributing the
value to the cash generating unit or asset, except in the case of
goodwill impairment. There were no reversals of impairment
losses in fiscal year 2018. When conducting the impairment
test, the value in use is determined on the basis of the manage-
ment’s medium-term forecast data covering a period of five
years. The planning assumptions were adjusted in line with
actual circumstances. Assumptions are taken into appropriate
account in consideration of macroeconomic trends and histor-
ical developments. Cash flow projections are estimated by
extrapolation based on the growth rate of the relevant market
segment. The growth rate remains unchanged year on year at
between 0.1% and 1.0% p.a. The value in use is determined on
the basis of discounting rates ranging from 6.9% p.a. to 9.7%
p.a. (prior year: 7.2% p.a. to 10.6% p.a.) and corresponding to
the risk-adjusted minimum yield on the capital market.

Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method and
Other Investments

Investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method are initially recognized at cost and
then in subsequent periods in the amount of the adjusted pro-
rated share in equity. The carrying amounts of the investments
are increased or reduced each year to reflect the share of earn-
ings, dividends distributed, and other changes in equity. Good-
will is included in the carrying amount of the companies
accounted for using the equity method. Impairment occurs
when the recoverable amount of the investment accounted for
using the equity method is lower than its carrying amount.

At the time of addition and in subsequent periods, other invest-
ments are generally carried at fair value, provided that these
amounts can be determined reliably. No fair value could be
determined for the other investments as of the reporting date;
as a result, these were measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. An impairment loss will be recognized as
profit or loss on other investments if there are indicators for
impairment.

Impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses on
investments accounted for using the equity method and other
investments are recognized as profit or loss in income from
investments, net.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred taxes are recognized on temporary differences
between the IFRS and tax balance sheets of the individual
companies, including differences arising from consolidation
processes and related to yet unused tax losses and tax
credits.

Deferred taxes are measured in accordance with the tax rates
and tax regulations that are in force as of the balance sheet
date or have been passed in principle and whose validity is
expected as of the date of settlement. Deferred tax assets will
only be recognized if it is probable that the entity will have
taxable income against which the temporary differences can
be utilized. A tax rate of 29.0% (prior year: 29.0%) was used to
calculate deferred taxes in Germany. This tax rate consists of
the domestic corporate income tax, the solidarity surcharge on
corporate income tax, as well as trade tax. Country-specific
tax rates are used to calculate the deferred taxes of the foreign
companies.

Deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences related to
investments in subsidiaries and investments accounted for
using the equity method are not recognized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if they pertain to
the same tax subject, are from or to the same tax authority,
and relate to the same period.
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Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. Financial instruments are recog-
nized as soon as CLAAS becomes a party to the contractual
provisions for the financial instrument. As a rule, the day on
which the financial instrument is concluded is key to how it is
reported. Financial instruments recognized as financial assets
or financial liabilities are generally not netted, and are only
netted when a legal right to offset exists at that time and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis.

CLAAS classifies non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
using the four measurement categories provided for in IAS 39:
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial
assets, and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.
The classification of the financial instruments is dependent on
the purpose for which they were acquired.

The categories generally do not include derivative financial
instruments designated as hedging instruments. However,
derivatives with hedging relationships are classified as “finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss” in order to improve presentation.

Financial instruments are recognized at amortized cost or at
fair value. The amortized cost is calculated using the effective
interest method. The fair value of a financial instrument in
accordance with IFRS is the amount for which the instrument
could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction other than a forced transaction,
involuntary liquidation, or distress sale. The fair value generally
corresponds to the market value or the stock market price.
If the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value
is established using a valuation technique (for example, a dis-
counted cash flow analysis, which applies a discount rate
equal to the current market rate of return).

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated
by discounting the estimated future cash flows at the current
market rate of return or by using other common valuation
techniques such as option pricing models.

Financial instruments for which the fair value cannot be reliably
measured are carried at amortized cost.

The fair value option provided for in IAS 39 permits an entity
to designate financial assets not held for trading on initial
recognition as financial assets measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognized as profit or loss. At CLAAS,
the fair value option is applied, provided a financial instrument
contains one or more embedded derivatives. Changes in the
value of such items are included in the financial result shown
on the income statement.

The carrying amounts of financial assets not recognized at fair
value through profit or loss are assessed as of each balance
sheet date for objective evidence of impairment. At CLAAS,
the Group-wide specifications state that objective indications
of impairment may be substantial financial difficulties on the
part of the issuer or obligor or the lack of an active market on
which the financial instrument is traded. If any such evidence
exists, the resulting impairment loss is recognized as profit or
loss. Any impairment loss of an available-for-sale financial
asset that was previously recognized directly in equity must be
removed from equity and recognized as profit or loss.

As in the prior year, no impairment was recognized for financial
assets, excluding trade receivables.

Inventories

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost and net realiz-
able value. The net realizable value is derived from the expected
disposal income less costs still to be incurred. The cost of raw
materials, consumables, and supplies, as well as merchan-
dise, is calculated using the average cost method. The cost of
internally generated work in progress and finished goods
includes direct materials and labor as well as production-
related overheads and production-related administrative
expenses based on normal capacity utilization. Borrowing
costs are not included in the cost.

Receivables and Other Financial Assets

Receivables and other financial assets are recognized at fair
value, which, in the case of current receivables and other finan-
cial assets, corresponds to the nominal value.
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Adequate allowances are made for anticipated default risks.

In some cases, impairment of trade receivables is recorded in
separate allowance accounts. Impairment losses are recog-
nized for trade receivables anytime there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of financial difficulty on the part of
the obligor, impending losses, or delinquency in payments or
payment concessions granted by CLAAS. The decision as to
whether the carrying amount of a receivable at risk of default
should be reduced directly or through the use of an allowance
account depends on the degree of reliability of the risk
assessment.

Non-interest-bearing receivables that are not expected to
be collected within the normal payment cycle are discounted
at the market interest rate in accordance with the maturity of
the receivables.

CLAAS sells selected trade receivables to a structured com-
pany of the CLAAS Group or other financial institutions on a
revolving or non-recurring basis. The structured company is
an asset-backed securitization (ABS) company that refinances
itself in the capital market. Receivables are derecognized
when the risks and rewards associated with the receivables
are transferred to a third party and the cash inflow from the
sale is ensured. These receivables will continue to be carried
on the balance sheet, provided that the risks and rewards
associated with the receivables — particularly credit risks and
default risks — remain in the CLAAS Group.

Securities

Current securities primarily include pension and money market
funds as well as variable and fixed-interest bonds that gener-
ally have remaining terms of between three months and one
year at the time of acquisition. At CLAAS, securities desig-
nated as financial assets are generally classified as “available
for sale.” In exceptional circumstances, the fair value option
may be applied to securities. This means that financial assets
may, on initial recognition, be measured at fair value through
profit or loss, if doing so would significantly reduce or eliminate
an accounting mismatch.

They are recognized at fair value or market price.

In the case of securities classified as “available for sale,” unre-
alized gains or losses on the measurement are recognized
directly in equity as other comprehensive income until the
securities are disposed of, taking into account deferred taxes.
When exercising the fair value option, gains and losses from
the valuation are recognized as profit or loss in the income
statement.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise checks, cash in hand,
and bank balances. Cash and cash equivalents as reported in
the statement of cash flows correspond to the same item in the
balance sheet.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
CLAAS uses derivative financial instruments to hedge financial
risks from the operating business and the resulting refinancing
requirements. These risks are generally interest rate, currency,
and commodity risks. The hedging instruments primarily used
are foreign exchange outrights and options.

At the time of acquisition and in subsequent periods, derivative
financial instruments are recognized at fair value. Changes in
present value are recognized as profit or loss in other financial
result for the period, unless the derivative financial instruments
are in a hedging relationship. Depending on the type of hedging
relationship, changes in present value are either recognized as
profit or loss in the income statement or directly in equity as
other comprehensive income.

The criteria of IAS 39 must be fulfilled for hedges to be
accounted for (hedge accounting). If this is the case, CLAAS
documents the hedging relationship either as a fair value
hedge or a cash flow hedge from this time. Only cash flow
hedges existed in the past fiscal year.

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments used for
hedging purposes are presented in Note 33.

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge against the risks of fluc-
tuations in cash flows. Gains and losses from changes in the
fair value of the effective portion of the hedge are initially taken
into account in other comprehensive income as equity. These
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are reclassified into the income statement if the hedged trans-
action is recognized as profit or loss. The ineffective portion of
such changes in value is recognized directly as profit or loss in
other financial result for the period.

If the hedge accounting criteria are no longer met, the deriva-
tive financial instruments that were part of the hedging relation-
ship are then measured at fair value as profit or loss.

Leases

In the case of finance leases, the leased assets are capitalized
and the payment obligations resulting from future lease
payments are recognized as a liability on a discounted basis.
If CLAAS companies act as lessees in operating leases, the
lease payments are recognized as an expense.

Pension Provisions

Pension provisions are recorded for defined benefit obligations
from vested rights and current benefits on behalf of eligible
active and former employees and their surviving dependents.
Obligations relate primarily to retirement pensions, which are
paid in part as basic and in part as supplementary benefits.
Pension obligations are normally based on the employees’
length of service and remuneration levels.

Provisions for defined benefit plans are based on the actuarial
present value of the respective obligation; this is measured
using the projected unit credit method. This method takes into
account not only pensions and accrued vested rights known
as of the balance sheet date, but also anticipated future
salary and pension increases. The valuation assumptions
vary according to the economic conditions of the country in
which the pension plans are administered. In Germany, the
life expectancy used to calculate the obligation is based on
the 2018 G K. Heubeck mortality tables (as at June 2018).
Comparable bases are used in the other countries.

Pension provisions are derived from the balance of the actuar-
ial present value of the defined benefit obligations and the fair
value of the plan assets available to cover the pension

obligation. The service cost is included in the functional costs
in the consolidated income statement. Net interest is included
in the financial result.

Actuarial gains and losses on the remeasurement of the net
pension liability or net assets are fully recognized in the fiscal
year in which they occur. They are recognized directly in equity
in other reserves. They will not be recognized as profit or loss
in subsequent periods.

The interest rates used for discounting purposes are deter-
mined annually as of the balance sheet date on the basis of
high-quality, fixed-rate corporate bonds matching the pension
payments.

Other Provisions

Other provisions are recognized for the present legal or con-
structive obligations of the CLAAS Group that have arisen from
a past event and are expected to result in an outflow of future
economic benefits, and whose amount can be measured
reliably.

Provisions for obligations arising from sales largely include
warranty obligations. Provisions for warranties are recognized
at the time of sale of the products in question or the rendering
of the corresponding services. Assumptions must be made as
to the type and scope of future warranty and policy cases as
well as possible special inspections in order to determine the
amount of the provisions. These estimates are largely based
on historic expectations. Provisions are regularly adjusted in
line with new information.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet
date. Significant, non-current other provisions are discounted.
Increases in provisions resulting from a pure addition of
accrued interest are recognized as profit or loss in interest
expenses for the period.
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Liabilities

Liabilities are initially carried at their fair value less transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost; liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing
rate.

Recognition of Revenues and Earnings

The ordinary business operations of the CLAAS Group involve
the sale of agricultural equipment products and services. All
income relating to the ordinary business operations, less sales
deductions such as cash discounts and price reductions, are
presented as net sales. All other income is classified as other
operating income or interest income. Net sales, other operat-
ing income, and interest income are generally recognized upon
completion of delivery or service and transfer of risk to the
customer.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales comprises the cost of goods sold, the cost of the
sold merchandise, as well as the expenses for commission,
outgoing freight and packaging, insurance, and production-
related logistics costs.

Research and Development Costs

Development costs for internally generated future serial prod-
ucts are recognized as an asset, provided manufacture of the
products will generate probable future economic benefits for
CLAAS and the other criteria for the recognition of internally
generated intangible assets are fulfilled.

The cost comprises all costs directly attributable to the devel-
opment process plus the relevant development-related over-
heads. Borrowing costs are capitalized as a part of the cost if
conditions are met. Amortization is undertaken on a straight-
line basis as of the start of production over the expected useful
life of the product, usually between six and ten years.

Research costs, amortization and impairments of capitalized
development costs, and development costs that cannot be
capitalized are expensed as incurred in the income statement
under research and development costs.

Government Grants

Government grants are only recognized when there is reason-
able assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions
attached to it, and that the grant will be received. Government
grants not related to assets are recognized as profit or loss as
other operating income over the periods necessary to match
them with the related costs that they are intended to compen-
sate. Grants related to assets are deducted in arriving at the
carrying amount of the asset, and the grant is recognized as
income over the life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Estimates and Management Judgments

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, it is to some
extent necessary to make assumptions and estimates that
affect the amount and presentation of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses, as well as any contingent liabilities in
the reporting period. These estimates and assumptions pri-
marily relate to assessing the recoverability of assets; defining
a uniform Group standard for the economic lives of property,
plant and equipment; and recognizing and measuring provi-
sions based on the current state of knowledge. In particular,
assumptions regarding expected business development are
based on circumstances at the time of preparation of the con-
solidated financial statements as well as the probable develop-
ment of global markets and industries. The actual amounts
may differ from the original estimates if outside developments
over which management has no control should cause these
parameters to change.

At the time the consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared, it was not assumed that the underlying assumptions
and estimates would be subject to material changes.
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6. New Financial Reporting Standards

Among other things, the IASB has published the following
standards, which do not need to be applied in the EU yet and

which CLAAS has not applied early. Standards that are not
listed below are insignificant for CLAAS.

Standard/Interpretation Effective date IASB Effective date EU Impact on CLAAS
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Mandatory Effective Date and
IFRS 7/IFRS 9  Transition Disclosures) Jan. 1, 2018 Yes Immaterial
May change classifica-
Financial Instruments: Revision and Replacement of tion and measurement
IFRS 9 All Existing Standards (Classification and Measurement) Jan. 1, 2018 Yes | of financial instruments
Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
IFRS 15 New Revenue Recognition Standard Jan. 1, 2018 Yes Immaterial
IFRS 16 Leases Jan. 1, 2019 Yes Material

CLAAS will apply IFRS 9 for the first time in the fiscal year
beginning on October 1, 2018. Prior-year figures are not likely
to be adjusted, and any transition effects will be reported
cumulatively in retained earnings. An impact assessment of
the application of IFRS on the consolidated financial state-
ments does not suggest that there will be any significant effect
on the classification and measurement or presentation of
hedge accounting as a result of the transition to IFRS 9. How-
ever, there may be fluctuations in net interest expense and
income from securities.

CLAAS will apply IFRS 15 for the first time in the fiscal year
beginning on October 1, 2018. This initial application will take
place with retroactive effect, resulting in any transition effects
being recognized directly in retained earnings at the beginning
of the comparison period. However, the assessment of the
effects of applying IFRS 15 to the consolidated financial state-
ments found that there will be no change in retained earnings.

That being said, there will be additional quantitative and quali-
tative disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

In cases where CLAAS is the lessee, the new IFRS 16 requires
that the Company adopt a completely new approach to the
presentation of leases. In the future, every lease should be
presented on the lessee’s balance sheet as a financial trans-
action. This will increase total assets. The regulations relating
to lessors remain more or less unchanged compared to the
regulations of IAS 17.

CLAAS will likely apply the standard in modified form for the
fiscal year beginning on October 1, 2019; in other words, prior-
year figures will not be adjusted. The effects of applying
IFRS 16 on the consolidated financial statements are currently
under review.
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7. Net Sales

Net sales pertained almost exclusively to the delivery of goods.
Sales by region can be broken down as follows:

in €°000 2018 2017
Germany 834,628 785,027
France 677,130 657,185
Rest of Western Europe 746,434 691,722
Central and Eastern Europe 941,370 921,509
Other countries 689,616 705,542
Net sales 3,889,178 3,760,985
8. Research and Development Expenses

in €°000 2018 2017
Research and development costs (total) -233,369 -217,576
Development costs recognized as an asset 43,669 40,851
Amortization/impairment of development costs recognized as an asset -35,982 -34,419
Research and development expenses recognized in the income statement -225,682 -211,144
R&D capitalization ratio (in %) 18.7 18.8
9. Personnel Expenses and Employees

The personnel expenses reported under functional costs are

composed as follows:

in €’000 2018 2017
Direct and indirect remuneration - 562,996 -544,877
Social security contributions and employee benefit expenses - 119,880 -115,681
Pension expenses -10,144 -12,907
Personnel expenses - 693,020 -673,465
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The average number of employees during the year was as

follows:
2018 2017

Direct employees 4,238 4,210
Indirect employees 6,204 6,223
Apprentices 610 619
Average number of employees 11,052 11,052
Direct employees are directly involved in the production pro-
cess, whereas indirect employees support production, organi-
zational, and administrative processes.
10. Other Operating Income and Expenses
Other Operating Income
in €’000 2018 2017
Reversal of provisions 57,619 46,995
Measurement of receivables 5,079 3,776
Grants and subsidies 4,620 3,536
Disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 2,721 1,482
Insurance compensation 2,161 1,245
Pass-through costs 1,278 541
Rental and leases 584 433
Miscellaneous income 24,054 23,938
Other operating income 98,116 81,946
Other Operating Expenses
in €’000 2018 2017
Measurement of receivables -11,103 -15,302
Personnel expenses -6,716 -11,648
Fees, charges, and insurance premiums -2,157 -2,478
Disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -1,972 -2,138
Miscellaneous expenses -31,797 -35,188
Other operating expenses -53,745 -66,754
11. Income from Investments, Net
in €’000 2018 2017
Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net 17,417 12,814

thereof: impairment losses on investments accounted for using the equity method (-2,212) (-3,323)
Income from other investments, net 1,448 1,324
Income from investments, net 18,865 14,138
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12. Financial Result

in €°000 2018 2017
Interest expense -29,909 -29,662

thereof: profits transferred under a partial profit transfer agreement (CMG) (-4,131) (-3,929)
Non-current provisions -4,816 -3,432
Capitalization of borrowing costs 3,641 2,355
Interest and similar expenses -31,084 -30,739
Interest income 9,829 9,102
Income from other securities and loans, net -19 591
Interest expense and income from securities, net -21,274 -21,046
Other financial result -25,640 -20,941
Financial result -46,914 -41,987

Payments based on the performance of the CLAAS Group with
respect to the silent partnership of CMG Claas-Mitarbeiter-
beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH (CMG) are included in “profits
transferred under a partial profit transfer agreement (CMG)”.

Interest expenses and income are the result of financial assets
the following measurement

and liabilities allocated
categories:

to

in €’000 2018 2017
Loans and receivables 6,517 6,575
Available-for-sale financial assets 3,263 2,509
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -29,860 -29,644
Interest expenses and income -20,080 -20,560
The other financial result can be broken down as follows:

in €’000 2018 2017
Foreign exchange gains and losses, net -19,448 -13,130
Miscellaneous financial income and expenses, net -6,192 -7,811
Other financial result -25,640 -20,941
13. Income Taxes

in €’000 2018 2017
Current income taxes -75,669 -73,838
Deferred income taxes 1,957 4,803
Income taxes -73,712 -69,035

As in the prior year, the underlying income tax rates for foreign
companies were between 9.0% and 35.0% (prior year: 9.0%
and 39.0%).

Income taxes in the reporting period were €8.3 million higher
than the theoretical tax expense that would have resulted from
the application of the domestic Group tax rate of 29.0% on
income before taxes.
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The following table shows the reconciliation from theoretical to
actual tax expense:

2018 2017

in €°000 in % in €°000 in %
Income before taxes 225,684 184,482
Theoretical tax expense -65,448 29.0 -53,500 29.0
Differences in foreign tax rates 4,610 -2.0 2,593 -1.4
Tax effects from prior years 1,182 -0.5 2,337 -1.3
Non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses -5,088 2.3 -4,000 2.2
Accounting for investments accounted for using the equity method 5,051 -2.3 3,716 -2.0
Effects from changes in tax rates -13,653 6.0 -1,046 0.5
Impact of tax losses -2,519 11 -18,665 1041
Other consolidation effects 945 -0.4 -710 0.4
Miscellaneous 1,108 -0.5 240 -041
Effective tax expense -73,712 32.7 -69,035 37.4

The most-significant effects from changes in tax rates resulted
from the reduction of U.S. federal corporate tax and of the
French corporate tax rate. These tax rates were taken into
account in the measurement of deferred taxes as of the bal-
ance sheet date and increased tax expense.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are split across the following
balance sheet items:

Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017

Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax
in €°000 assets liabilities assets liabilities
Intangible assets 4195 53,398 1,870 51,268
Property, plant and equipment 10,516 16,243 13,792 18,507
Inventories 47,261 3,399 43,048 2,834
Receivables and miscellaneous assets 13,913 7,795 6,526 9,832
Provisions 105,016 2,352 118,405 1,445
Liabilities 12,225 287 9,761 407
Loss carryforwards 81,926 - 81,796 -
Gross amount 275,052 83,474 275,198 84,293
Valuation allowances on tax loss carryforwards and similar items -54,182 - -56,760 -
Netting out - 80,583 - 80,583 -82,037 -82,037
Carrying amount 140,287 2,891 136,401 2,256

The tax loss carryforwards, the majority of which are realizable
without restriction, amounted to €339.2 million (prior year:
€314.6 million). This includes an amount of €213.4 million (prior
year: €228.0 million) on which a valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets of €54.2 million (prior year: €56.8 million)
has been recognized.

The utilization of tax loss carryforwards, on which deferred tax
assets had not yet been recognized, did not result in a positive
effect in the reporting year, as was also the case in the prior
year. The following amounts are included in equity due to
deferred taxes being offset:

in €’000 Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
Securities -819 -1,370
Derivative financial instruments 6,665 4,691
Currency effects -2,765 -2,041
Deferred taxes offset in accumulated other comprehensive income 3,081 1,280
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans 23,777 24,183
Deferred taxes in other reserves 26,858 25,463
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14. Intangible Assets

Concessions,

industrial and

similar rights

and assets, and Development
licenses in such Payments made costs recognized

in €’000 rights Goodwill on account as an asset Total
Cost
Balance as of Oct. 1, 2016 53,928 70,569 3,820 244,560 372,877
Currency translation -342 -109 - -49 -500
Consolidation adjustments -36 - - - -36
Additions 6,706 - 3,976 42,837 53,619
Disposals -1,043 -3 - -2,933 -3,979
Reclassifications 4,980 - -3,729 -35 1,216
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 64,193 70,457 4,067 284,380 423,097
Currency translation -146 36 - 45 -65
Additions 7,782 - 3,013 46,983 57,778
Disposals -3,812 - - -42,109 -45,921
Reclassifications 3,133 - -3,183 - 0
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 71,150 70,493 3,947 289,299 434,889
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance as of Oct. 1, 2016 36,036 55,758 - 69,657 161,451
Currency translation -68 - - - -68
Consolidation adjustments -1 - - - -1
Additions (@mortization) 6,093 - - 34,419 40,512
Additions (impairment) 1,508 - - - 1,508
Disposals -1,032 - - -2,933 -3,965
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 42,526 55,758 - 101,143 199,427
Currency translation -87 - - -4 -91
Additions (@amortization) 6,899 - - 34,931 41,830
Additions (impairment) 3,062 - - 1,051 4,113
Disposals -3,719 - - -42,109 -45,828
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 48,681 55,758 - 95,012 199,451
Carrying amounts
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 21,667 14,699 4,067 183,237 223,670
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 22,469 14,735 3,947 194,287 235,438

Development costs in the amount of €47.0 million (prior year:
€42.8 million) were capitalized. This includes capitalized bor-
rowing costs of €3.3 million (prior year: €2.0 million). The nec-
essary impairment tests on the capitalized development costs
lead to impairment losses of €1.1 million (prior year:

€0.0 million). These impairment losses resulted from reduced
cash flow forecasts and market-related changes in the cost of
capital. The forecast assumptions were adjusted to reflect cur-
rent circumstances and future market expectations, which led
to correspondingly lower values in use.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment

Other equip- Payments on

Land, land Technical ment, operating account and

rights and equipment and and office assets under
in €°000 buildings machinery equipment construction Finance leases Total
Cost
Balance as of Oct. 1, 2016 411,860 507,108 242,608 40,374 2,458 1,204,408
Currency translation -729 -237 -903 -100 -5 -1,974
Consolidation adjustments -2 -10 -1,186 - - -1,198
Additions 17,159 15,325 12,839 31,897 2 77,222
Disposals -1,225 -8,189 -10,741 -407 - -20,562
Reclassifications 7,943 12,482 4,240 -25,881 - -1,216
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 435,006 526,479 246,857 45,883 2,455 1,256,680
Currency translation -5,944 -5,846 -1,147 -456 -39 -13,432
Additions 17,706 25,391 16,641 42,804 - 102,542
Disposals -6,020 -50,310 -15,383 -29 -102 -71,844
Reclassifications 11,607 20,864 4,407 -36,878 - 0
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 452,355 516,578 251,375 51,324 2,314 1,273,946
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance as of Oct. 1, 2016 182,683 376,748 162,912 - 1,577 723,920
Currency translation 405 -29 -522 - -5 -151
Consolidation adjustments - -4 -526 - -530
Additions (depreciation) 9,868 38,988 19,092 - 468 68,416
Additions (impairment) 2,474 3,263 - - 5,737
Disposals -511 -7,152 -9,288 - - -16,951
Reclassifications - -31 31 - - -
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 194,919 411,783 171,699 - 2,040 780,441
Currency translation -3,691 -5,778 -826 - -39 -10,334
Additions (depreciation) 9,839 36,797 19,116 - 413 66,165
Additions (impairment) - 584 - - - 584
Disposals -3,026 -48,788 -12,500 - -100 -64,414
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 198,041 394,598 177,489 - 2,314 772,442
Carrying amounts
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2017 240,087 114,696 75,158 45,883 415 476,239
Balance as of Sept. 30, 2018 254,314 121,980 73,886 51,324 0 501,504

Additions to the cost of assets under construction included
€0.3 million (prior year: €0.4 million) in capitalized borrowing

costs.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment amounted
to €0.6 million (prior year: €5.7 million). Impairment losses are

reported under cost of sales.

As in the prior year, the CLAAS Group did not pledge any
property, plant and equipment as collateral for liabilities.
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16. Investments Accounted for Using the
Equity Method

The following table shows the summarized financial data on
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method that are immaterial for the CLAAS Group, both individ-
ually and in total:

Associates Joint ventures
in €°000 2018 2017 2018 2017
At equity result 1,132 3,102 16,285 9,712
Carrying amount of investments accounted for using the equity method 29,181 20,931 106,327 94,415

Investments accounted for using the equity method mainly
relate to investments in CLAAS Financial Services companies,
which provide financing solutions for investments in CLAAS
machines.

17. Inventories

in €°000 Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
Raw materials, consumables, and supplies 151,343 104,691
Work in progress 80,022 68,762
Finished goods and merchandise 728,356 570,787
Payments made on account 8,335 15,015
Advanced payments received -65,050 -75,404
Inventories 903,006 683,851

An increase in write-downs of inventories amounting to
€0.4 million (prior year: reduction of €13.8 million) and was
recognized in the income statement in the reporting year and

18. Trade Receivables

recorded under expenses in the cost of sales. As in the prior
year, inventories were not pledged as security for liabilities.

in €°000 Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
Gross carrying amount 382,695 371,787
Impairment -42,548 -39,167
Net carrying amount 340,147 332,620
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The impairment of trade receivables developed as follows:

in €°000 2018 2017
Impairment at Oct. 1 39,167 33,326
Utilization -778 -2,615
Reversal of/addition to impairment loss, net 4,280 9,688
Currency translation -121 -1,232
Impairment at Sept. 30 42,548 39,167

The following table shows the distribution of trade receivables
by the impairment and maturity criteria:

in €°000 Sept. 30, 2018 Sept. 30, 2017
Neither past due nor impaired 268,253 257,108
Not impaired but past due as per the following time frames:
up to 30 days 35,935 40,982
31 to 60 days 8,858 13,5636
61 to 90 days 7,014 5,766
more than 90 days 15,130 12,042
Trade receivables adjusted individually for impairment 4,957 3,186
Trade receivables 340,147 332,620

The amount of interest income received on impaired financial
assets was insignificant. Please see Note 34 for disclosures on
existing credit risks arising from trade receivables.

Asset-backed securitization

Trade receivables are sold on a revolving basis within the
scope of an asset-backed securitization program (ABS pro-
gram). At the end of the fiscal year, the nominal volume of
the receivables sold and derecognized as a result came to
€213.5 million (prior year: €237.4 million).

In some cases, the CLAAS Group retains the share of the sold
receivables as part of these sales; this is balanced out under
certain circumstances by future credits or netting. The result-
ing assets amounted to €67.2 million as of the balance sheet
date (prior year: €69.6 million).

As part of these sales, the CLAAS Group recognized assets
of €11.6 million (prior year: €13.8 million) as of the reporting
date for the partially retained provisions for risk of default. The
financial liabilities associated with the sales amounted to
€17.5 million (prior year: €23.3 million).
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19. Other Financial Assets

in €’000 Current Non-current Sept. 30, 2018 Current Non-current Sept. 30, 2017
Borrowings - 3,472 3,472 - 4,260 4,260
Receivables from investments 83,794 4,300 88,094 95,898 - 95,898
Derivative financial instruments 4,205 - 4,205 9,885 - 9,885
Creditors with a debit balance 3,714 - 3,714 3,176 3,176
Loan receivables 1,254 - 1,254 1,250 1,250
Interest receivables 165 - 165 290 - 290
Miscellaneous 97,864 2,174 100,038 97,730 1,695 99,325
Other financial assets 190,996 9,946 200,942 208,229 5,855 214,084
20. Other Non-financial Assets

in €’000 Current Non-current Sept. 30, 2018 Current Non-current Sept. 30, 2017
Prepaid expenses 12,860 - 12,860 11,514 - 11,514
Other taxes 57,554 - 57,5654 49,180 - 49,180
Surplus related to funded benefit obligations - 16,576 16,576 - 13,647 13,647
Miscellaneous 966 22,174 23,140 4,043 20,844 24,887
Other non-financial assets 71,380 38,750 110,130 64,737 34,491 99,228

21. Securities

A total of €93.9 million (prior year: €622.5 million) of curr